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1

Plaintiffs Sean Debotte, Michael M. Nunes, City of Taylor Police and Fire Retirement System,

2 Briarwood Investments, Inc., Bradley Skaggs, Charles and Phyllis Wheeler, and Theodore Eyking
3 ("plaintiffs") allege the following based upon the investigation of plaintiffs , counsel, which included a
4 review of U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") filings by King Digital Entertainment pIc
5 ("King" or the "Company"), regulatory filings and reports, securities analysts' reports and advisories
6 about the Company, press releases and other public statements issued by the Company, media reports
7 about the Company, and a limited review of partial productions of documents made by certain
8 Underwriter Defendants as concerns second cause of action for violations of section 12(a)(2) of the
9
10

Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"). Plaintiffs believe that substantial additional evidentiary
support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

11

12
13

1.

This is a securities class action on behalf of all purchasers of King common stock in

and/or traceable to King's March 27,2014 initial public stock offering (the "IPQ"), seeking to pursue

14 remedies under the Securities Act.
15
16

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the causes of action asserted herein

17 pursuant to the California Constitution, Article VI, § 10, because this case is a cause not given by statute
18 to other trial courts. This action is not removable. The claims alleged herein arise under §§ 11, 12(a)(2)
19

and 15 of the Securities Act. See 15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2), and 770. Jurisdiction is conferred by §22

20

of the Securities Act and venue is proper pursuant to §22 of the Securities Act. See 15 U.S.C. §77v.

21

Section 22 of the Securities Act explicitly states that "[ e]xcept as provided in section 16(c), no case

22

arising under this title and brought in any State court of competent jurisdiction shall be removed to any

23

court of the United States." Jd. Section 16(c) refers to "covered class actions," which are defined as

24

lawsuits brought as class actions or brought on behalf of more than 50 persons asserting claims under

25

state or common law. See 15 U.S.C. §77p(c), and (f)(2). This is an action asserting federal law claims.

26

Thus, it does not fall within the definition of "covered class action" under Securities Act § 16(b)-(c) and

27

therefore is not removable to federal court. See Luther v. Countrywide Fin. Corp., 195 Cal. App. 4th

28
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1 789, 792 (2011) ("The federal Securities Act of 1933 of 1998 ... as amended by the Securities
2 Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998 ... , provides for concurrent jurisdiction for cases asserting
3 claims under the 1933 Act .... "); Luther v. Countrywide Home Loans Servicing LP, 533 F.3d 1031,
4

1032 (9th Cir. 2008) ("Section 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 creates concurrent jurisdiction in

5 state and federal courts over claims arising under the Act. It also specifically provides that such claims
6 brought in state court are not subject to removal to federal court.").
7

3.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the defendants named herein because

8 they conducted business in, were citizens of and/or orchestrated the IPO out of California at the time of
9 the IPO (including King, which maintains its principal U.S. place of business in this state and county at
10 the time ofthe IPO). Fenwick & West LLP of Mountain View, California, represented the Company in
11

the IPO, and Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., with offices located in this County, represented

12 the Underwriter Defendants. Each of the Underwriter Defendants also has offices in and/or conducts
13

significant business in this jurisdiction. The violations of law complained of herein occurred in

14 California, including the preparation and dissemination of the materially false and misleading
15
16
17

Registration Statement complained of herein, which statements were disseminated into this State.
4.

Venue is proper in this Court because defendants' wrongful acts arose in and emanated

from this County. At the time ofthe IPO, King's U.S. headquarters were (and remain) located at 188

18 King Street, Unit 302, San Francisco, California. Defendant Cohn resides in San Francisco County and
19

defendant McKee resides in the California counties of San Mateo and/or Monterey. As the Registration

20

Statement listed King's U.S. headquarters in San Francisco on its face, and each signatory authorized

21

King.com Inc.' s Chief Executive Officer, as King's "Authorized Representative in the United States,"

22

to sign it on his or her behalf, all signatories of the Registration Statement are deemed to have

23

undertaken the IPO in California.

24
25

PARTIES
5.

Plaintiffs Sean Debotte, Michael M. Nunes, City of Taylor Police and Fire Retirement

26

System, Briarwood Investments, Inc., Bradley Skaggs, Charles and Phyllis Wheeler and Theodore

27

Eyking purchased King common stock in and/or traceable to the IPO, and were damaged thereby. City
-2-
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1 of Taylor Police and Fire Retirement System ("City of Taylor"), specifically, purchased in the IPO from
2

one ofthe Underwriting Defendants, after being an attendee ofthe IPO road show and being pitched by

3 the underwriting syndicate (including personally by at least one of the underwriting syndicate's
4

members), after being pitched by King in King's road show presentation, and in connection with its

5 review of the Prospectus and Registration Statement (collectively, "Registration Statement").
6

6.

Defendant King is a Dublin, Ireland-based interactive entertainment company that

7 creates, markets and distributes video games for mobile devices. King's ordinary shares trade on the
8 New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the ticker symbol "KING." King is subject to liability as
9

an issuer and control person, and all the statements and solicitation herein made by King's officers was

lOon behalf of King. King designated numerous personnel in the working group for the IPO, including its
11

CEO, COO, and CFO, all of whom not only reviewed and approved the offering documents, but also

12

traveled for weeks in a multi-country, multi-city road show, and gave road show presentations

13

according to a power point and talking points/script that was reviewed and approved by them and other

14 King personnel. King's representatives at the road show pitched investors in the IPO in webcasts and
15
16

scores of meetings including personal meetings, conference calls, breakfasts, and lunches.
7.

Defendant Hope Cochran ("Cochran") was at the time ofthe IPO Chief Financial Officer

17

of King ("CFO"). As one of three King executives in the IPO working group, Cochran reviewed and

18

approved, and participated in making, statements in the Preliminary Prospectus, and the Registration

19

Statement. She also reviewed, edited and approved the IPO' s road show power point presentation, road

20

show talking points and script, in addition to making the false and misleading statements at the road

21

show as King's CFO as alleged in paragraph 34. Cochran was paid a lucrative discretionary bonus

22

incentive contingent upon the IPO and was also motivated by the financial implications of an IPO for

23

King and its selling officers, who included the CEO, Riccardo Zacconi, the COO, Stephane Kurgan, and

24

the CCO Jean Sebastian Knutsson, who sold millions of shares in the IPO.

25

8.

Defendant Robert S. Cohn ("Cohn") is, and was at the time of the IPO, a member of

26

King's Board of Directors. Defendant Cohn resides in San Francisco, California. Before the IPO Cohn

27

was granted 225,000 "D 1" ordinary shares that converted into "A" ordinary shares (tradable and
-3-
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1 entitled to receive dividends) upon the IPQ. As of the IPQ nearly 40,000 of those shares had vested,
2

and all 225,000 shares became "in the money" with an intrinsic value of over $5 million.

3
4

9.

Defendant E. Stanton McKee, Jr. ("McKee") is, and was at the time of the IPQ, a

member of King' s Board of Directors. Defendant McKee resides in Carmel and Woodside, California.

5

10.

The defendants named in 7-9 are referred to herein as the "Individual Defendants." The

6

Individual Defendants each signed the Registration Statement and/or authorized the signature on their

7

behalf.

8

11.

Defendant J.P. Morgan Securities LLC ("J.P. Morgan") is a financial services company

9

that acted as an underwriter and a joint book-running manager of King's IPQ, by helping to draft,

10

approving the content of, and disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPQ, and by

11

selling King's stock directly to investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 5,157,060 shares

12

to J.P. Morgan, not including the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's

13

"greenshoe" option. This defendant has an office located at 560 Mission Street, Suite 2400, San

14 Francisco, California.
15

12.

Defendant Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC ("Credit Suisse") is a financial services

16

company that acted as an underwriter and a joint book-running manager of King's IPQ, by helping to

17

draft, approving the content of, and disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPQ, and

18

by selling King's stock directly to investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 5,157,060

19

shares to Credit Suisse, not including the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's

20

"greenshoe" option. This defendant has an office located at 650 California Street, San Francisco,

21

California.

22

13.

Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated ("Merrill Lynch") is a

23

financial services company that acted as an underwriter and a joint book-running manager of King's

24

IPQ, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and disseminating the offering documents, by

25

marketing the IPQ, and by selling King's stock directly to investors per the underwriting syndicate

26

allocation 0[3,363,300 shares to Merrill Lynch, not including the additional shares sold pursuant to the

27
28

-4SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED TO
THE COURT
1085226 1

1 underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option .. This defendant has an office located at 101 California
2

Street, Suite 1400, San Francisco, California.
14.

3

Defendant Barclays Capital Inc. ("Barclays") is a financial services company that acted

4 as an underwriter and ajoint book-running manager of King's IPO, by helping to draft, approving the
5 content of, and disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's
6 stock directly to investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 1,682,760 shares to Barclays, not
7 including the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option .. This
8 defendant has an office located at 555 California Street, 30th Floor, San Francisco, California.
15.

9

Defendant Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. ("Deutsche Bank"), an indirect wholly owned

10 subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG, is a financial services company that acted as an underwriter and a
11

joint book-running manager of King's IPQ, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and

12 disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to
13

investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 1,682,760 shares to Deutsche Bank, not including

14 the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant
15

has an office located at 10 1 California Street, San Francisco, California.

16

16.

Defendant RBC Capital Markets, LLC ("RBC Capital") is a financial services company

17 that acted as an underwriter of King's IPQ, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and
18 disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to
19 investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 1,682,760 shares to RBC Capital, not including
20 the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant
21

has offices located at Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200, San Francisco, California and 345

22

California Street, 28th Floor, San Francisco, California.

23

17.

Defendant BMO Capital Markets Corp. ("BMO Capital") is a financial services

24

company that acted as an underwriter of King's IPO, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and

25

disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to

26

investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to BMO Capital, not including the

27
28
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1 additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant has
2 an office located at Spear Tower, One Market Plaza, Suite 1515, San Francisco, California.
18.

3

Defendant Cowen and Company, LLC ("Cowen and Co.") is a financial services

4 company that acted as an underwriter of King's IPO, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and
5 disseminating the offering documents by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to
6 investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to Cowen and Co., not including
7 the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant
8 has an office located at 555 California Street, 5th Floor, San Francisco, California.
19.

9

Defendant Pacific Crest Securities LLC ("Pacific Crest"), based in Portland, Oregon, is a

10 financial services company that acted as an underwriter of King's IPO, by helping to draft, approving
11

the content of, and disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's

12

stock directly to investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to Pacific Crest,

13

not including the additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option.

14 This defendant has an office located at 201 Spear Street, Suite 1300, San Francisco, California.
15

20.

Defendant Piper Jaffray & Co. ("Piper Jaffray") is a financial services company that

16 acted as an underwriter of King , s IPO, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and disseminating
17 the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to investors per the
18 underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to Piper Jaffray, not including the additional shares
19

sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant has an office located

20 at 50 California Street, Suite 3100, San Francisco, California.
21

21.

Defendant Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc. ("Stifel") is a financial services company

22

that acted as an underwriter of King's IPO, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and

23

disseminating the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to

24

investors per the underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to Stifel, not including the

25

additional shares sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant has

26 an office located at One Montgomery Street, San Francisco, California.
27
28
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1

22.

Defendant Wedbush Securities Inc. ("Wedbush") is a financial services company that

2 acted as an underwriter of King's IPQ, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and disseminating
3 the offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to investors per the
4 underwriting syndicate allocation of 541,680 shares to Wedbush, not including the additional shares
5 sold pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant has an office located
6 at 2 Embarcadero Center, Suite 600, San Francisco, California.
7

23.

Defendant Raine Securities LLC ("Raine") is a financial services company that acted as

8 an underwriter of King's IPQ, by helping to draft, approving the content of, and disseminating the
9 offering documents, by marketing the IPO, and by selling King's stock directly to investors per the
10 underwriting syndicate allocation of224,220 shares to Raine, not including the additional shares sold
11

pursuant to the underwriting syndicate's "greenshoe" option. This defendant has an office located at

12

One Lombard Street, Suite 300, San Francisco, California.

13

24.

The defendants named in ~~11-23 are referred to herein as the "Underwriter Defendants"

14 or "underwriting syndicate." Pursuant to the Securities Act, the Underwriter Defendants (and King
15

where applicable) are liable for the false and misleading statements in the Registration Statement as

16 follows:
17

(a)

The Underwriter Defendants are investment banking houses that specialize, inter

18

alia, in underwriting public offerings of securities. They served as the underwriters of the IPO and

19

shared more than $28.7 million in fees collectively. The Underwriter Defendants determined that in

20 return for their share of the IPO proceeds, they were willing to merchandize King stock in the IPQ. In
21

the bakeoff that determined the composition of the underwriting syndicate, the Underwriting

22

Defendants extolled their ability to market King's securities, including branding in order to extract

23

value from investor exchanges and controlling messaging through influential media, including social

24 media networks and financial publications. Each ofthe Underwriting Defendants designated personnel
25

to the working group personnel, including investment bankers, analysts, associates, and counsel, to

26 market King's stock, and those personnel participated in approving the content of King's Registration
27
28

Statement and road show presentation, arranging the road show where each Underwriting Defendant
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1 was promoted as a seller of King 's stock, pitching investors at the road show or through the road show
2 webcast, and in promoting King's IPQ to their bank's own clients.
(b)

3

The Underwriter Defendants arranged an extraordinary international, multi-

4 country, multi-city, two-week roadshow, and webcast prior to the IPQ during which they, and
5 representatives from King, personally met with potential investors in New York, Boston, and other mid6 Atlantic cities, Frankfurt, Milan, London, Kansas City , Chicago, Denver, Los Angeles, and San
7 Francisco, and presented highly favorable information about the Company, its operation, and its
8 financial prospects. The Underwriter Defendants reviewed, edited and approved the road show
9 presentation and script/talking points. In the road show the Underwriter Defendants directly invited and
10 pitched investors who purchased shares from the Underwriter Defendants in the IPQ. The pitches took
11

place in personal meetings at investors' offices and the offices of Underwriting Defendants, in

12

scheduled invite-only conference calls, at breakfast and lunch meetings by invitation, and in webcast

13

presentations;
(c)

14

15

Before agreeing to a "firm underwriting," in which the Underwriter Defendants

not only marketed but also sold King's shares and the shares of King's top officers and certain

16 employees, to IPQ investors, the Underwriter Defendants demanded and obtained an agreement from
17 King that King would indemnify and hold the Underwriter Defendants harmless from any liability
18 under the federal securities laws. They also made certain that King had purchased millions of dollars in
19 directors' and officers' liability insurance;
20

(d)

The Underwriter Defendants agreed to, and also made a market or engaged in,

21

"stabilizing" transactions for King's shares that would have the effect of raising, maintaining, or

22

retarding a decline in the market price of King's shares;
(e)

23

Representatives of the Underwriter Defendants also assisted King and the

24

Individual Defendants in planning the IPQ, and purportedly conducted an adequate and reasonable

25

investigation into the business and operations of King, an undertaking known as a "due diligence"

26

investigation. The due diligence investigation was required of the Underwriter Defendants in order to

27

engage in the IPQ. During the course of their "due diligence," the Underwriter Defendants had

28
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1 continual access to confidential corporate information concerning King's operations and financial
2 prospects;
3
4

(f)

In addition to availing themselves of virtually unbridled access to internal

corporate documents, agents of the Underwriter Defendants met with King's lawyers, management, and

5 top executives and engaged in "drafting sessions" between at least July 2013 and March 2014. Each of
6 the Underwriting Defendants designated members of the working group, who actively participated in
7 these sessions and reviewed, edited, and approved content of the Registration Statement and the road
8

show presentation.

During these sessions, understandings were reached between King and the

9 underwriting syndicate as to: (i) the strategy to best accomplish the IPO; (ii) the terms of the IPO,
10 including the price at which King stock would be sold; (iii) the language to be used in the Registration
11

Statement; (iv) what disclosures about King would be made in the Registration Statement; and (v) what

12

responses would be made to the SEC in connection with its review of the Registration Statement. As a

13

result of those constant contacts and communications between the Underwriter Defendants'

14 representatives and King management and top executives, the Underwriter Defendants knew, or should
15

have known, of King's existing problems as detailed herein; and

16

(g)

The Underwriter Defendants caused the Registration Statement to be filed with

17

the SEC and declared effective in connection with offers and sales thereof, including to plaintiffs and

18

the Class.

19

25.

The true names and capacities of defendants sued herein under California Code of Civil

20

Procedure §474 as Does 1 through 25, inclusive, are presently not known to plaintiffs, who therefore

21

sue these defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs will seek to amend this complaint and include

22

these Doe defendants' true names and capacities when they are ascertained. Each of the fictitiously

23

named defendants is responsible in some manner for the conduct alleged herein and for the injuries

24

suffered by the Class.

25
26
27

28

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
26.

Defendant King is a so-called casual-social games company. Casual-social games,

which typically include a puzzle element, are easy to learn, but hard to master and can be played in a
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1 few minutes on any screen size and any device. King develops its games for the web, for mobile (both
2

iOS and Android), and for Facebook (where King is the largest game developer). When played while

3

logged onto social media, players can track their scores with others on the same social media network.

4

27.

King operates on a "freemium" business model, meaning that its games are free to play,

5 but if a player pays a charge it enables the player to access more functionality in the game or extend
6 play into higher levels. Because a very small percentage of King's users pay, the "freemium" business
7 model depends on massive scale, whereby millions of users access King's games through mobile
8 devices and digital networks. It also depends in large part on the interconnectedness of users and
9 King's computer servers, where King is aware of what its users do on a real-time basis.
10
11

28.

King distributes its games in what it calls a "Saga format," which involves the

progression of the game through numerous levels and through a background story. King tracks where

12 players are at in the game and offers inducements (such as in-game virtual items; "boosters" and other
13

add-ons such as "extra lives," and "level unlocks" that enhance skills and help players to progress

14 further in the game to additional levels or episodes) to keep players engaged in playing the game. King
15
16

also induces use by encouraging players to invite their social media "friends" to compete.
29.

King generates revenues from its very small but critical group of users that pay, by

17

selling these users extra lives, entrance to additional episodes and/or other add-ons incrementally at

18

different points within the games when players are most likely to purchase them (i. e., when another life

19

is needed to continue play to reach another level), for relatively inexpensive prices (i.e., $0.99, $1.99,

20

$2.99 each). The Company promotes paying for additional play experience by representing, for

21

instance, that "Boosters can make the difference between winning and failing a level!" King calls its

22

users that make purchases on a particular platform "Unique Payers." And because the small fraction of

23

King's users that are willing to pay King for play experience is so critical to the Company's business,

24

King flags in its internal data "conversions" (when a user becomes a player) and tracks these users very

25

closely with a metric that it calls "Monthly Unique Payers (MUPs)."

26
27
28

30.

By distributing its games through the Apple App Store, the Google Play Store, the

Amazon Appstore and Facebook, King collects payment for most of the virtual items it sells using the
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1 payments processing systems of those platform providers. Under King's traditional, incremental
2 revenue collection system, players (or as King calls them, "payers") made small incremental purchases
3 of virtual items that were largely used within a single game. However, by the time the IPO was being
4

launched in late March 2014, King was launching its new games utilizing a new payment system that

5 entailed selling players a virtual hard currency in the form of "gold bars" that could later be exchanged
6 for the virtual items (including as extra lives, additional episodes and other add-ons). Like the virtual
7 items had been, the virtual currency was sold using the Apple App Store, the Google Play Store, the
8 Amazon Appstore and Facebook payment systems.
9

31.

By the time of the IPO, King had decided to convert all of its games to the virtual

10 currency/gold bars payment system (including Candy Crush Saga ("Candy Crush")). Under the virtual
11

currency/gold bars system, payers made larger but less frequent purchases, King stated. At the time of

12 the IPO, King represented that a recent decline in monthly unique payers ("MUPs") was the result of
13

this transition and that MUPs were in a "growth trend." In fact, less users were paying and the so-called

14 "growth trend" had reversed due to the decline in popularity of King's most important game, Candy
15

Crush, and the inability of King to convert users to payers in its other games that were purportedly

16 replacing/adding to Candy Crush gross bookings.
17
18

32.

The Company offers over 180 games in various forms, but its two-year-01d Candy

Crush, in which users move candies to line up at least three of the same color, accounted for 78% of

19 King's revenues for the last three months of 2013. Candy Crush, which was first launched on Facebook
20

in April 2012, was later released on Apple devices in November that year and on Android devices in

21

December 2012. By February 2014, Candy Crush had 97 million average daily users ("ADUs").

22

Conversely, King's other popular titles, including Pet Rescue Saga, Farm Heroes Saga, Papa Pear Saga

23

and Bubble Witch Saga, each had, respectively, only approximately 15 million, 20 million, 5 million

24

and 3 million ADUs.

25

33.

The spectacular popularity of Candy Crush, especially during the first year following its

26

launch on Apple and Android mobile devices, helped King generate revenues of $602 million by the

27

fourth quarter of20 13 (ended December 31,2013), up fromjust $22 million in the first quarter of20 12.
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1 However, by the time the IPO was being launched in late March 2014, the relative popularity of Candy
2 Crush had started to decline. At this time and after the IPO, King repeatedly maintained its practices
3 drove "longevity" of its games, and at times King compared Candy Crush to Pac-Man and Tetris, games
4 whose popularity has persisted over decades.
5

34.

For example, King's IPO road show presentation emphasized "[o]ur approach has

6 delivered game longevity" and that Candy Crush gross bookings were at 80%-90% of peak gross
7 bookings. But this was false and misleading and omitted material information, for Candy Crush gross
8 bookings had plummeted in the then-current quarter by nearly 15% and were well below the reported
9
10

80%-90% of peak gross bookings.
35.

On July 16, 2013, King filed a Registration Statement on Form F -1 with the SEC, which

11

would later be utilized for the IPO following several amendments in response to comments by the SEC.

12

On March 25,2014, the SEC declared the Registration Statement effective. On or about March 27,

13

2014, King and the Underwriter Defendants priced the IPO and filed the final Prospectus for the IPO,

14 which forms part of the Registration Statement (collectively, the "Registration Statement"). The IPO
15
16
17

closed on March 31, 2014, the last day of King's first quarter.
36.

The Registration Statement was negligently prepared and, as a result, contained untrue

statements of material facts or omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not

18 misleading, and was not prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations governing its
19 preparation.
20
21

37.

Concerning the Company's pricing for virtual items, the Registration Stated in pertinent

part as follows:

22

We have put the long-term retention ofour players at the heart ofour business
model. While our players are able to enjoy our games for free, we generate revenue by

23

selling virtual items to a subset of players who wish to enhance their entertainment
experience. Our approach is to make our pricing transparent and consistent throughout
the game journey. Following these principles, we have gathered a wide base of
approximately 12 million average monthly unique payers, representing approximately
4% ofour monthly unique users as ofDecember 31,2013. We believe that targeting a
modest share of our customer's entertainment spend drives game longevity and

24
25
26
27
28
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customer loyalty, and is the most effective way of building a sustainable business over
1
the long term.

1

2
But the small critical percentage of unique users that actually paid King had dropped approximately
3
10% to 3.5% ofMUUs. This omitted material fact obscured that less people were willing to pay for
4
King's games as a result of undisclosed declining bookings in Candy Crush and the failure of King's
5
diversification into other games purportedly replacing/adding to Candy Crush bookings. It also
6
obscured a significant issue King was having with all of its games on the Facebook platform,
7

disappearing user lives, which was negatively affecting King's user statistics. The breadth and

8
significance of this issue became known only after King's IPO, when a consumer class action was filed
9
against the Company alleging the user lives donated by friends on the Facebook platform were simply
10
disappearing from user accounts.
11

38.

Indeed, defendants went through great pains to tell investors that King's business growth

12
was sustainable because Candy Crush and other games were long-term franchises resulting from King's
13
ability to gain long-term retention of its players and customer loyalty. Approximately 40 times
14
throughout the Registration Statement defendants asserted King's games, including Candy Crush, had
15
"long-term retention," "longevity" and/or customer "loyalty," and that made King a "long-term"
16
sustainable business. But these statements were false and misleading and defendants omitted material
17
facts, including that the critical percentage of paying users had dropped approximately 10% to 3.5% of
18
MUUs, monthly unique payers ("MUPs") were not in a growth trend but were materially declining,
19

King was alienating a significant portion of its users with the disappearance of donated user lives (see
20

infra

~~50-53),

and gross bookings from Candy Crush had plummeted to 67% of overall bookings.

21
Those material omitted facts significantly contributed to flat revenue growth and a 20% drop in profits,

22
and demonstrated King's user/payer retention and loyalty, and so-called game "longevity," was in truth
23

fleeting and not sustainable of significant growth.
24
39.

As to the Company's "Key Metrics," the Registration Statement stated in pertinent part

25
that they "include[d] gross bookings, revenue and adjusted EBITDA, and [its] key operating metrics,

26
27

28

Here and throughout emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.
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1 which include [d] daily active users (DAUs), monthly active users (MAUs) and monthly unique payers
2 (MUPs )," which it stated "ha[ d] grown significantly in the last two years" and that "this trend [was] a
3 result of[King's] ability to profitably grow, retain and monetize [its] massive player network and loyal
4 customer base." But with respect to perhaps the most "key" of the Company's "Key Metrics," MUPs,
5 this metric was not in a growth trend. Nor was there a temporary decline in this metric as a side effect
6 of King's recent currency system. MUPs were then suffering a significant reversal born of overall
7 lagging sales due to alienation of users and the faster-than-disclosed decline in Candy Crush popularity
8 and then-declining gross bookings in that game. The statement that MUPs were in a "growth trend"
9 was materially false and misleading, and the Registration Statement omitted material facts here and
10 elsewhere that MUPs were in fact in a declining trend due to a materially faster-than-disclosed decline
11
12
13

in the popularity of Candy Crush.
40.

The "Overview" in the "Management's Discussion and Analyses of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations" ("MD&A") portion of the Registration Statement stated in pertinent part that

14 King "generate[d] revenue primarily through sales of virtual items by means of microtransactions,
15 where certain of [its] users [paid] for items and features that enhance [d] their entertainment experience,
16 such as extra lives, boosters and additional game content." The MD&A also stated in pertinent part that

17 King's "business model [was] highly scalable and ha[d] demonstrated strong operating leverage in
18 terms of [the Company's] ability to convert incremental revenue growth into incremental growth in
19 adjusted EBITDA and cash flow."
20
21
22

41.

Concerning King's efforts to diversify its revenue dependence on Candy Crush, the

MD&A section stated in pertinent part as follows:

24

In January 2014, we also released Farm Heroes Saga on the mobile channel.
Following this launch, gross bookings from this game have increased and we have seen
further diversification of our overall gross bookings. We believe these recent
launches, in combination with new content releases, have contributed to recent gross
bookings consistent with those of the fourth quarter of2013.

25

The statements referenced above were materially false and misleading as they omitted material facts

23

26 concerning gross bookings and related metrics. Candy Crush gross bookings as a percentage of peak
27
28

gross bookings were significantly less than what had been disclosed, which materially contributed to the
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1 persistent significant decline in MUPs, indicating failure of King's diversification strategy. Indeed,
2

notwithstanding the decline in MUPs, King was spending more on advertising to attract payers to its

3

new games, driving expenses up and profits down.

4

42.

In the Registration Statement defendants identified a number of "Key Operating

5

Metrics," including "Monthly Unique Payers (MUPs)," "Monthly Unique Users (MUUs)," "Daily

6

Active Users (DAUs)," and "Monthly Gross Average Bookings per Paying User (MGABPPU),"

7

concerning "Monthly Unique Payers (MUPs)." The Registration Statement stated in pertinent part as

8

follows:

9

10

Average MUPs increased by 11 million, or 821 %, from 1 million in the quarter
ended December 31, 2012 to 12 million in the quarter ended December 31, 2013. We
believe the reasons for the growth in our MUPs from December 31, 2012 were

11

consistent with the factors driving the growth in our MA Us and MUUs, as well as
improved in-game monetization. Average MUPs decreased by 0.9 million, or 7%, from

12

13 million in the quarter September 30, 2013 to 12 million in the quarter ended
December 31,2013.

13

As the Registration Statement stated elsewhere, "growth" in monthly active users ("MAU s") and MUU s

14

"was driven" in part "by [King's] focus on the introduction of additional popular games." But MUPs

15

were not in fact "growing" and the introduction of additional games by King was not in fact growing

16 MUPs. According to the Prospectus, the decrease in MUPs in the December quarter would not continue
17
18
19

20

because:
We believe the movement is as a result of less payment activity among occasional
payers in our earlier Saga games, such as Bubble Witch Saga and Candy Crush Saga, in
North America where we have enjoyed a rapid proliferation of network and payer
growth. However, we have noted an increase in the number ofpayers playing in more

than one game. These more engaged players are now driving an increase in average
spend per paying player . ...

21
This statement was materially false and misleading and omitted material information because gross
22
bookings from Candy Crush had plummeted to 67% of overall bookings - a drop of nearly 15% - and
23
that the number of unique payers had significantly decreased, resulting in flat revenue growth and a
24
20% drop in profits, and clearly indicating bookings from other games were then not growing MUPs or
25
financial results.

26
27
28
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1

43.

Buttressing that MUPs would continue to grow, the Registration Statement continued,

2 stating "[w]e believe that increases in DAUs have had a positive impact on our overall gross bookings
3 as a larger audience creates more opportunities for monetization," that "[w]e believe the reasons for the
4 growth in our DAUs were consistent with the factors driving the growth in our MAUs and MUUs," and
5 that "[w]e believe the increase in [monthly gross average bookings per paying user] is as a result of our
6 ability to keep our loyal customer base engaged with new content on existing games and attracting them
7 to new games within our network." Indeed, while stating "[w]e expect our growth in MAUs, MUUs
8 and DAUs to slow in future periods," the Registration Statement materially omitted that the "growth
9 trend" in MUPs had reversed, and that MUPs were then significantly declining.
10
11

44.

The Registration Statement also contained a slew of generalized, false and misleading

statements about the "possible" future of King's business that omitted material information about the

12 then-current state of King's operations. Stating that "[a] small number of games currently generate a
13

substantial majority of our revenue," King represented in the Registration Statement that Candy Crush

14 accounted for nearly 80% of total gross bookings, including "86% and 58% of our mobile channel and
15 web channel gross bookings, respectively." The Registration Statement also stated that "[iJfthe gross
16 bookings of our top games, including Candy Crush Saga are lower than anticipated and we are unable
17 to broaden our portfolio of games or increase gross bookings from those games, we will not be able to
18 maintain or grow our revenue and our financial results could be adversely affected." But gross
19 bookings were lower than what was represented and the Registration Statement omitted and did not
20 otherwise reveal material facts, including that gross bookings from Candy Crush had plummeted to
21

67% of overall bookings - a drop of nearly 15% - and that the number of unique payers had

22

significantly decreased, resulting in flat revenue growth and a 20% drop in profits, and clearly

23

indicating bookings from other games were then not growing financial results.

24

45.

According to the Registration Statement, it was "difficult to evaluate [King's] future

25 prospects and financial results," in part because the Company was using "new distribution platforms."
26 But the Company was obtaining real-time data from its platforms that enabled it to determine key user
27
28

and payer metrics and bookings within hours, and had transparent visibility into its then-current quarter
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1 operating results it would report shortly after going public. Those results portended bleak prospects for
2 Candy Crush (whose gross bookings had decayed much more than what King stated) and the
3 Company's diversification strategy. Furthermore, King was aware that it was alienating users due to
4 donated lives disappearing from user accounts on the Facebook platform. Indeed, King's real-time data
5 enabled King to conduct Multivariate testing to compare key performance indicators of its active games
6 under different scenarios.
7

46.

King's "Freemium" model relied on real-time performance data metrics that it stored in,

8 and accessed from, an electronic data warehouse. King departments, such as the Business Intelligence
9 unit, developed applications that accessed the data warehouse and generated multiple reports on a daily,
10 weekly, monthly, quarterly and annual basis that included key performance indicators. For example,
11

daily reports contained extensive current (past 24 hours) and historical (10 days) information about

12 purchases, revenues and the number of users of King's games, both on King's mobile and social media
13 platforms. The reports, automatically e-mailed to King's executives, VPs and product and project
14 managers, were granular, breaking down gross bookings and other metrics by game and platform.
15

47.

The Registration Statement also stated "during the month of December 2013,

16 approximately 4% of our monthly unique users (MUUs), or approximately 12 million monthly unique
17 payers (MUPs), purchased virtual items from us," and that "if these players do not continue to play our
18 games, or if we cannot encourage significant additional players to purchase virtual items in our games,
19 we would not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate, and our business would be harmed." This
20 statement was materially false and misleading and omitted material information because King's
21

business already had been harmed, for Candy Crush had plummeted to 67% of overall bookings - a

22

drop of nearly 15%. Also, the number of unique payers had significantly decreased, dropping

23

approximately 10% to only 3.5% of MUUs. These factors contributed to flat revenue growth and a

24 20% drop in profits, and demonstrated bookings from other games were then not sustaining the
25
26

Company's growth rate and the Company's business model and diversification strategy were failing.
48.

The Registration Statement also stated "[i]fthe cost to acquire players is greater than the

27 revenue we generate over time from those players and if we cannot successfully migrate our current
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1 players to new games and new platforms as we have historically done so, our business and operating
2 results will be harmed," This statement was materially false and misleading and omitted material
3 information because the reversal in King's business model had already occurred. Candy Crush's gross
4 bookings were plummeting, along with the number of unique payers. King was having to spend more
5 on advertising to attract payers to its new games than it had to grow players of Candy Crush, driving
6 expenses up and profits down, and King's other new game offerings (beyond Candy Crush) were not
7 drawing in new players at the rate Candy Crush was losing them.
8

49.

Although operating results were already down, the Registration Statement stated "[w]e

9 may experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results due to a number of factors," including
10 "the ability of games released in prior periods to sustain their popularity and monetization rates." This
11

generalized statement was materially false and misleading and omitted material facts because King's

12 number one game, Candy Crush, had plummeted to 67% of overall bookings - a drop of nearly 15%.
13

Furthermore, the Registration Statement omitted the material fact that King was alienating its users due

14 to donated lives disappearing from user accounts in all games across the Facebook platform. Also, the
15 number of unique payers had significantly decreased, dropping approximately 10% to only 3.5% of
16 MUU s, all of which resulted in flat revenue growth and a 20% drop in profits. Indeed, King was not on
17 track to achieve the financial results the Company had led the investment community to expect in the
18 run-up to the IPO.
19

50.

The disappearance of donated lives through Facebook user accounts was also having a

20 significant negative effect on King's business. If a player loses all of his or her lives, the player is
21

unable to play the game unless he or she: (i) waits for new lives to generate (which takes thirty minutes

22

for a single life); (ii) decides to acquire additional lives through an in-app purchase; or (iii) obtains

23

additional lives through Facebook. By connecting King game accounts to personal Facebook accounts,

24 players can obtain additional lives. Once a player has connected these two accounts, players are able to
25

send, receive or otherwise obtain or transfer lives to and from Facebook friends who have also

26 connected their Facebook accounts to their King game accounts. In fact, if a player's Facebook friends
27 have not already installed King games on their mobile phone or tablet, those friends are prompted to
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1 download and install the game on their own device in order to accept donated lives or to donate lives to
2

a friend.

3
4
5
send me one?

6

7

8
9
10

Friends to Invite

11

Selected

12
13
51.

But donated lives on the Facebook platform across all King games were disappearing

14
from user accounts. This undisclosed and unlawful practice had the effect of falsely boosting King's
15
revenues in the short term as players whose lives were deleted and who wanted to continue playing the
16
game needed to spend additional funds to purchase replacement lives to replenish those which had been
17
deleted.

King's practice of deleting players' lives donated within games also had the effect of

18
alienating players, which diminished King's long-term retention of its customers as the practice made
19
players less likely to continue playing King's games, let alone spending money to purchase extra lives
20
or other virtual items.
21
52.

The Registration Statement asserted King's technology allowed the Company to "easily

22
support integration with multiple different social networks, such as Facebook .... " It also represented
23
that King provided the ability for players to move seamlessly between the Facebook platform and other
24
platforms, and users' ability to play King games on Facebook represented a competitive advance and
25
allowed for increased customer engagement and retention:

26
27

28

Our unique cross-platform architecture allows our audience to play wherever
they are: on Apple's iOS, Google's Android, or Amazon's Kindle mobile devices, or on
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their desktop on Facebook. It also allows players to switch seamlessly between devices
and platforms and continue their game wherever they left off. Cross-platform gameplay
has been widely adopted by our audience and has driven increased engagement, cross-

1
2

platform virality and retention.
3
But these statements were false and misleading and omitted material information. In truth, King's
4
Facebook platform did not allow for players to "switch seamlessly" because players who did so were
5
losing donated lives within games, causing the players to believe King was defrauding them by
6
removing players' donated lives from King user accounts without players' knowledge or consent. This
7

was materially negatively affecting King's ability to retain users and was violating consumer protection

8
laws.
9
53.

The Registration Statement also stated King's quarterly and annual revenues in 2013 and

10
affirmatively represented "How [King] Generate [s] Revenue." In doing so, the Registration Statement
11

represented that King's revenues were derived legitimately so that players could "unlock additional
12
game content." It also represented that Facebook-related revenues were recognized when virtual items
13
such as player's lives were "used by the player." But these statements were false and misleading and
14
omitted material information because King was falsely recognizing revenue illicitly obtained by the
15
deletion of user lives. Indeed, Facebook revenue was significant, for the Registration Statement
16
primarily attributed year-over-year revenue growth to "continued growth on Facebook." But this
17
statement, too, was false and misleading and omitted material information, for the growth in King's
18
Facebook revenue was due in significant part to the deletion of user lives and gross bookings and other
19

key metrics (e.g., MUUs) were declining due to the alienation of users whose lives were deleted on
20
Facebook. In fact, when King investors learned of these issues and their magnitude as a class action
21
lawsuit was filed against King this year for computer fraud and abuse and numerous state consumer
22
protection laws, King's stock plummeted over 5%.
23
54.

Pursuant to Item 303 of Regulation S-K (17 C.F.R. §229.303), and the SEC's related

24
interpretive releases thereto, including any known trends, issuers are required to disclose events or
25
uncertainties that have had or are reasonably likely to cause the registrant's financial information not to

26
be indicative of future operating results. At the time of the IPO, MUUs were trending downward
27

28
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1 significantly and the incorrectly reported "growth trend" in MUUs was uncertain at best, Candy Crush
2 gross bookings had declined, and were declining, much more than disclosed, revenues were being
3 falsely inflated due to the deletion of user lives on the Facebook platform, and the Company's
4 diversification strategy had been unable to significantly grow overall gross bookings even though King
5 was spending enormous amounts of money on advertising and promotion. The adverse events and
6 uncertainties associated with these declining trends were reasonably likely to have a material impact on
7 King' profitability, and, therefore, were required to be (but were not) disclosed in the Registration
8 Statement not only under Item 303, but also because they were material facts that were necessary to be
9 disclosed in order to make the statements made in the Registration Statement not misleading.
10
11

55.

The IPO was successful for the Company and its executives and directors, and the

Underwriter Defendants, with the Company selling 15,533,334 shares of King common stock to the

12 public at $22.50 per share in the
13

lP~,

and raising more than $349.5 million in gross proceeds, and the

Company executives and other selling stockholders selling another 6,666,666 shares and raising another

14 $150 million in gross proceeds in the IPO. It was the largest ever IPO for a mobile/social gaming
15
16

company in the United States, narrowly eclipsing Zynga's 2011 offering.
56.

After being public for less than 40 days, King issued its first quarter 2014 operating

17 results. On May 7, 2014, after the close oftrading on the NASDAQ, the Company reported first quarter
18 2014 operating results, in which it admitted that MUPs declined from the last quarter of20 13 to the first
19 quarter of2014. And in the conference call that followed, the Company's CEO admitted that Candy
20 Crush gross bookings declined to 67%. In response, Sterne Agee analysts reported on May 7, 2014,
21

"Candy Crush Declines Faster Than Expected" and pointed out the declines in Candy Crush and overall

22 MUPs. On May 7, 2014, TheStreet.com reported "King Digital's monthly unique paying users
23

(MUPs), the less than 12 million users that pay for digital goods and drive pretty much all of the

24 company's revenue and earnings, fell between the fourth quarter of2013 and the first quarter of2014.
25

That drop in King Digital MUPs came as the company reported strong growth on just about every other

26 user metric, and should be worrying .... "
27
28
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1

57.

King, however, continued to espouse Candy Crush as a game that had unusual longevity

2 and that the game's decline in gross bookings was not indicative of its longevity or too great to be offset
3 by other gross bookings, stating the decline of Candy Crush would be more than offset by growth from
4 other games. For example, King stated Candy Crush continued to attract a significant number of new
5 players to the game. The Company also compared Candy Crush to Pac-Man and Tetris, stating Candy
6 Crush has been "such a huge game," that "it does have a life that can probably even go beyond what
7 we've seen historically." To bolster its statements that the decline of Candy Crush would not drag
8 down the Company, King's officers also stated releases of new content such as "Dreamworld" within
9 Candy Crush were occurring continually, and that was increasing longevity of and engagement in,
10 Candy Crush. King also stated it had an extraordinary amount of data to rely on to feel comfortable
11

with its forecast for Candy Crush, that the Company had a strong ability to predict the rate of decay of

12 the game, and that in every quarter internal forecasts for gross bookings came in higher than expected.
13

58.

Finally, after a second quarter of disappointing results, King admitted declines in Candy

14 Crush gross bookings were too great to be offset and the game's decay rate was greater than what had
15

been represented. On August 12,2014, after the close of trading on the NASDAQ, King reported

16 second quarter results below expectations and lowered its outlook for the full year: "[O]ur second
17 quarter gross bookings came in below our expectations leading us to reduce our outlook for full-year
18

2014 growth rates." During the Company's earnings conference call that followed, King's CEO

19 admitted that Candy Crush's gross bookings "declined more than we had expected," and "our non20 Candy Crush games did not grow as much as we had expected" and therefore "did not offset the decline
21

in Candy Crush."

22

59.

23

King's stock ratings were slashed by analysts at Underwriter Defendants Deutsche Bank,

Barclays, RBC Capital, J.P. Morgan and Piper J affray and the price of King common stock plummeted.

24 For instance, on August 13, 2014, Underwriter Defendant J.P. Morgan analyst Doug Anmuth
25

downgraded his rating for King common stock from "Overweight" to "Neutral" and lowered his price

26 target from $30 to $18, stating "King's 2Q14 earnings were disappointing," and that "weak" metrics in
27
28

the second quarter were "due mostly to Candy Crush" and that "newer games ... did not pick up the
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1 slack." He also found negative the decline in MUPs - a 12% drop. On August 13,2014, Sterne Agee
2

reported "2Q heightens our growth concerns; Lowering Estimates," stating "[o]ur concerns on growth

3

have heightened post 2Q as Candy Crush deteriorated faster than expected and newer titles were unable

4

to sufficiently offset this decline." Likewise, on August 13, 2014, Underwriter Defendant RBC

5

Capital's analyst Mark Mahaney downgraded his rating on King common stock from "Outperform" to

6 "Sector Perform" with a $15 price target, stating, in pertinent part: "Our Long Thesis was predicated on
7 the belief that the company could demonstrate overall Bookings & Revenue growth WHILE
8

demonstrating diversification away from its dominant Candy Crush franchise." Piper Jaffray on August

9

12,2014, lowered its rating on King, highlighting the "Candy Crush Decline" and noting that MUPs

10

declined. King's stock price declined significantly, trading as low as $11.25 per share (half the stock's

11

price at the IPO) after the second quarter earnings announcement and subsequent reports.

12
13

60.

King's stock price has only traded well below the IPO price since the second quarter

2014 earnings disclosures by the Company, notwithstanding historic trading heights reached by the

14 markets. At the time of the filing of this action, the price of King stock was trading in the range of $14
15

per share - a decline of 38% from the IPO price.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

16
17

61.

Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of a class consisting of all those

18

who purchased King common stock pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration Statement issued in

19

connection with the IPO (the "Class"). Excluded from the Class are defendants and their families, the

20

officers and directors and affiliates of defendants, at all relevant times, members of their immediate

21

families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns and any entity in which defendants

22

have or had a controlling interest.

23

62.

The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

24

While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiffs at this time and can only be

25

ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiffs believe that there are hundreds of members in the

26 proposed Class. Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records
27

28
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1 maintained by King or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,
2 using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.
3
4

63.

Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all members of

the Class are similarly affected by defendants' wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that is

5 complained of herein.
6

64.

Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and

7 has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.
8
9

65.

Common questions oflaw and fact exist as to all members ofthe Class and predominate

over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the questions oflaw and

10 fact common to the Class are:
11

(a)

whether defendants violated the Securities Act;

12

(b)

whether the Registration Statement was negligently prepared and contained

13

inaccurate statements of material fact and omitted material information required to be stated therein;

14 and
15

(c)

to what extent the members ofthe Class have sustained damages and the proper

16 measure of damages.
17

66.

A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient

18

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the

19

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden of

20

individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the wrongs

21

done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

22

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

23

For Violation of §11 of the Securities Act
Against All Defendants By All Plaintiffs

24
67.

Plaintiffs incorporate the paragraphs above by reference.

68.

This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k,

25
26
on behalf of the Class, against all defendants. This is a non-fraud cause of action. Plaintiffs do not
27
28
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1 assert that defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that defendants acted with
2
3
4

scienter or fraudulent intent.
69.

The Registration Statement for the IPO was inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue

statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not

5 misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein.
6

70.

7

omISSIons.

8

71.

9
10
11

Defendants are strictly liable to plaintiffs and the Class for the misstatements and

None of the defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or possessed

reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration Statement were true
and without omissions of any material facts and were not misleading.
72.

By reason of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated, and/or controlled a

12 person who violated, § 11 of the Securities Act.
13

73.

Plaintiffs acquired King common stock traceable to the IPO.

14

74.

Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages. The value of King common stock has

15
16

declined substantially subsequent to and due to defendants' violations.
75.

At the time of their purchases of King common stock, plaintiffs and other members of

17

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein and

18

could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than one year has

19

elapsed from the time that plaintiffs discovered or reasonably could have discovered the facts upon

20

which this Complaint is based to the time that plaintiffs commenced this action. Less than three years

21

has elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of Action is brought were

22

offered to the public and the time plaintiffs commenced this action.

23

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

24

For Violation of §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act
Against the Underwriting Defendants and
Defendants King and Cochran By City of Taylor
Police and Fire Retirement System

25

26
76.

Plaintiffs incorporate the paragraphs above by reference.

27
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1

77.

This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § l2(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.

2 §77l(a)(2), against the defendants identified above. This is a non-fraud cause of action. Plaintiffs do
3 not assert that defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that defendants acted with
4 scienter or fraudulent intent. Each of the defendants under this cause of action sold King stock or was
5 directly involved in the sale of King stock to plaintiff City of Taylor, and in soliciting plaintiff City of
6 Taylor was motivated by a desire to serve their own financial interests or the financial interests of the
7 owners of King stock.
8

78.

By means of the defective Prospectus and other conduct alleged herein, including oral

9 and written communications made by the Company and certain Company defendants in connection with
10 King's road show, defendants promoted and sold King stock to plaintiffs and other members of the
11

Class. The Underwriting Defendants, King and Cochran, by means of the Prospectus and the road show

12 presentations and meetings, solicited plaintiff City of Taylor and IPO investors that are members of the
13

class, including the investors represented in Exhibit A, lodged herewith under seal. In the IPO, King

14 issued the stock and each ofthe Underwriting Defendants sold King stock to City of Taylor and/or IPO
15

investors that are members of the class, including the investors represented in Exhibit A. The

16 Underwriting Defendants also reviewed the purchaser list and authorized each sale of stock in the IPO.
17

79.

The Prospectus and road show communications contained untrue statements of material

18 fact, and concealed and failed to disclose material facts, as detailed above. Defendants owed plaintiffs
19 and the other members of the Class who purchased King common stock pursuant to the Prospectus the
20 duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation ofthe statements contained in the Prospectus to
21

ensure that such statements were true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to

22 be stated in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading. Defendants, in the exercise
23

of reasonable care, should have known of the misstatements and omissions contained in the Prospectus

24 as set forth above.
25

80.

Plaintiffs did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could have known, of

26 the untruths and omissions contained in the Prospectus at the time they acquired King common stock.
27
28
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81.

1

By reason of the conduct alleged herein, defendants violated § 12(a)(2) of the Securities

2 Act. As a direct and proximate result of such violations, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class
3 who purchased King common stock pursuant to the Prospectus sustained substantial damages in
4

connection with their purchases of the stock. Accordingly, plaintiffs and the other members of the

5 Class who hold the common stock issued pursuant to the Prospectus have the right to rescind and
6 recover the consideration paid for their shares, and hereby tender their common stock to defendants
7

sued herein. Class members who have sold their common stock seek damages to the extent permitted

8 by law.
9

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

10

For Violation of §15 of the Securities Act
Against the Company and the Individual Defendants By All Plaintiffs

11

82.

Plaintiffs incorporate the paragraphs above by reference.

83.

This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §770,

12
13
against the Company and the Individual Defendants.
14
84.

The Individual Defendants each were control persons of King by virtue oftheir positions

15
as directors and/or senior officers of King. The Individual Defendants each had a series of direct and/or
16
indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or officers and/or major
17
shareholders of King. The Company controlled the Individual Defendants and all of King's employees.
18
85.

The Individual Defendants each were culpable participants in the violations of § 11 of the

19

Securities Act alleged in the Cause of Action above, based on their having signed or authorized the
20
signing of the Registration Statement and having otherwise participated in the process which allowed
21
the IPO to be successfully completed.
22

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
23
WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment, as follows:
24
A.

Determining that this action is a proper class action, certifying plaintiffs as Class

25
representatives under California Code of Civil Procedure §382 and Rule 3.764 of the California Rules
26
of Court;
27
28
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1

2

B.

Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiffs and the other Class members

against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of defendants'

3 wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;
4

C.

Awarding plaintiffs and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this

5 action, including counsel fees and expert fees;
6

D.

Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages; and

7

E.

Such equitablelinjunctive or other relief as deemed appropriate by the Court.

8
9

JURY DEMAND
Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury.

10 DATED: October 23,2015
11

ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN
& DOWDLLP
JAMES 1. JACONETTE (179565)

12

lsi JAMES 1. JACONETTE

13

JAMES 1. JACONETTE
14
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 619/231-1058
619/231-7423 (fax)

15
16

ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN
& DOWDLLP
SHAWN A. WILLIAMS
One Montgomery Street, Suite 1800
San Francisco, CA 94104
Telephone: 415/288-4545
415/288-4534 (fax)

17
18
19
20

SCOTT + SCOTT LLP, ATTORNEYS AT LAW
JOHN T. JASNOCH
707 Broadway, 10th Floor
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 619/233-4565
619/233-0508 (fax)

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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1

6

SCOTT + SCOTT LLP, ATTORNEYS AT LAW
TOM LAUGHLIN
JOSEPH V. HALLORAN
DEBORAH CLARK-WEINTRAUB
BETHKASWAN
AMANDA LAWRENCE
405 Lexington Avenue, 40th Floor
New York, NY 10174
Telephone: 212/223-6444
212/223-6334 (fax)

7

Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs

8

BOTTINI & BOTTINI, INC.
FRANCIS A. BOTTINI, JR.
ALBERT Y. CHANG
YURY A. KOLESNIKOV
7818 Ivanhoe Avenue, Suite 102
La Jolla, CA 92037
Telephone: 858/914-2001
858/914-2002 (fax)

2
3
4
5

9

10
11

12
ABRAHAM, FRUCHTER &
TWERSKY, LLP
IAN D. BERG
TAKEO A. KELLAR
11622 El Camino Real, Suite 100
San Diego, CA 92130
Telephone: 858/764-2580
858/764-2582 (fax)

13
14
15
16

GLANCY PRONGAY & MURRAY LLP
LIONEL Z. GLANCY
ROBERTV. PRONGAY
CASEY E. SADLER
1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Telephone: 310/201-9150
310/201-9160 (fax)

17
18
19
20
21

24

THE ROSEN LAW FIRM, P.A.
LAURENCE M. ROSEN
355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Telephone: 213/785-2610
213/226-4684 (fax)

25

Executive Committee Members

22
23

26
27
28
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1

4

VANOVERBEKE MICHAUD & TIMMONY, P.C.
THOMAS C. MICHAUD
79 Alfred Street
Detroit, MI 48201
Telephone: 313/578-1200
313/578-1201 (fax)

5

Additional Counsel for Plaintiff

2
3

6
7

8
9
10
11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22
23
24
25

26
27
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DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY FILE & SERVE, MAIL & EMAIL

1
2

I, the undersigned, declare:

3

1.

4

That declarant is and was, at all times herein mentioned, a citizen of the United States

and a resident of the County of San Diego, over the age of 18 years, and not a party to or interested

5 party in the within action; that declarant's business address is 655 West Broadway, Suite 1900, San
6

7

Diego, California 92101.
2.

That

on

October 23,

2015,

declarant

served the

SECOND

AMENDED

8

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT

9

OF 1933 WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED TO

10

THE COURT WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED

11

TO THE COURT by filing the above-document with File & Serve.

12

3.

That

on

October 23,

2015,

declarant

served the

SECOND

AMENDED

13

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT

14

OF 1933 WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED TO

15

THE COURT WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED

16

TO THE COURT by depositing a true copy thereof in a United States mailbox at San Diego, California

17

in a sealed envelope with postage thereon fully prepaid and addressed to the parties listed on the

18

attached Service List.

19
20
21

4.

That there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the

places so addressed.
5.

Also,

on October 23,

2015,

declarant served the

SECOND AMENDED

22

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT

23

OF 1933 WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED TO

24

THE COURT WITH EXHIBIT A ATTACHED TO THE NOTICE OF LODGMENT SUBMITTED

25

TO THE COURT via electronic mail on all parties listed on the attached Service List.

26
27
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1
2

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on

October 23,2015, at San Diego, California.

3

4

5
6
7
8
9
10
11

12
13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26
27
28
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Counsel for Defendant(s)
Kevin P. Muck
Dean S. Kristy
Fenwick & West LLP
555 California Street, Suite 1200
San Francisco, CA 94104
415/875-2300
415/281-1350 (Fax)

Laura Kabler Oswell
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
1870 Embarcadero Road
Palo Alto, CA 94303-3308
650/461-5600
650/461-5700 (Fax)

Counsel for Plaintiff(s)
Ian D. Berg
Takeo A. Kellar
Abraham, Fruchter & Twersky, LLP
11622 EI Camino Real, Suite 100
San Diego, CA 92130
858/764-2580
858/764-2582 (Fax)

Francis A. Bottini Jr.
Albert Y. Chang
Bottini & Bottini, Inc.
7817 Ivanhoe Avenue, Suite 102
La Jolla, CA 92037
858/914-2001
858/914-2002 (Fax)

Lionel Z. Glancy
Robert V. Prongay
Glancy Prongay & Murray LLP
1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90067
310/201-9150
310/201-9160 (Fax)

Samuel H. Rudman
Mary K. Blasy
Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP
58 South Service Road, Suite 200
Melville, NY 11747
631/367-7100
631/367-1173 (Fax)

James J. Jaconette
Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900
San Diego, CA 92101
619/231-1058
619/231-7423 (Fax)

Shawn A. Williams
Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP
Post Montgomery Center
One Montgomery Street, Suite 1800
San Francisco, CA 94104
415/288-4545
415/288-4534 (Fax)
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John T. Jasnoch
Scott + Scott LLP
707 Broadway, 10th Floor
San Diego, CA 92101
619/233-4565
619/233-0508 (Fax)

Thomas C. Michaud
VanOverbeke Michaud & Timmony, P.C.
79 Alfred Street
Detroit, MI 48201
313/578-1200
313/578-1201
(Fax)

Thomas L. Laughlin IV
Joseph V. Halloran
Scott + Scott LLP
The Chrysler Building
405 Lexington Avenue, 40th Floor
New York, NY 10174
212/223-6444
212/223-6334 (Fax)

